
Procurement Board 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Procurement Board to be held as follows 
for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 28 August 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: The Boardroom, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of last meeting held 
on 7 August 2019 

(Pages 1 - 2)

4  Matters arising 

5  Decision items - Part 1 (open to the public) 

5a Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - 
Contract Award - ‘Vital and Viable Places’ 

(Pages 3 - 8)

5b Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - 
Contract Award - Co Design and Refurbishment of The Grange 
Children's Home 

(Pages 9 - 14)

5c Request for Approval - Contract Award - Provision of Six Sheet Digital 
Advertising Units within the City of Salford 

(Pages 15 - 22)

6  Any other business - Part 1 (open to the public) 

7  Exclusion of the public 

8  Decision items - Part 2 (closed to the public) 

8a Request for Approval - Contract Award - Provision of Six Sheet Digital 
Advertising Units within the City of Salford 

(Pages 23 - 32)

Public Document Pack



9  Date and time of next meeting 

10:00am on Wednesday 11 September 2019 in the Boardroom, 
Salford City Council, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA.

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston, Senior Democratic Services 
Advisor

E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



Page | 1 

PROCUREMENT BOARD

7 August 2019

Meeting commenced: 10:02 a.m.
Meeting ended: 11:21 a.m.

PRESENT: City Mayor Paul Dennett and Councillors Boshell and Hinds (in the chair)

IN ATTENDANCE: Steven Fry Assistant Director 
Emma Heyes Category Manager 
Chris Hesketh Head of Financial Management
Tim Kelly Senior ICT Consultant
Frank O’Sullivan Strategic HR & OD Manager
Carol Eddleston Senior Democratic Services Advisor

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Merry.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2019 were approved as a correct record.

4. MATTERS ARISING

There were no matters arising.

5. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED: THAT, under Section 100a(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they included the likely disclosure of exempt information as specified in 
the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

6. CAR CLUB PROCUREMENT

Consideration was given to a report of the Assistant Director HR & OD seeking 
approval to extend the current contact for the provision of the Council’s Car Club 
Scheme and to undertake a competitive tender exercise for the provision of a new 
scheme.

It was confirmed that, although there was some potential interest in car club schemes 
across other parts of Greater Manchester for the future, other authorities were not yet 
ready to commit to such schemes.

It was explained that a further extension to the current contract would allow continued 
engagement with the market and council departments about what was required of a 
future scheme. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page | 2 

It was considered that a breakdown of scheme usage/non usage across the council 
would have been useful. Officers explained that this information was available and 
was being used to inform the future specification and internal communications.

RESOLVED, THAT:
(1) A six months’ extension to the current contract with Co-Wheels Car Club 

Community Interest Company be approved, with a value of £88,799.95, and
(2) a competitive tender exercise be initiated for the provision of a new car club 

scheme.

7. INTEGRATED ADULTS’ AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT 
AND INTEGRATED FINANCE SYSTEM

Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director for Service Reform 
seeking approval to award a contract for an integrated Adults’ and Children’s Social 
Care Case Management and Integrated Finance System.

It was confirmed that the majority of local authorities across Greater Manchester had 
a Liquidlogic system in place but each system was bespoke as each authority had 
greatly differing processes in place.

It was acknowledged that the current system was outdated and inflexible and it was 
explained the proposed new system would provide a number of advantages, 
including enhanced security, portal engagement with citizens and providers, 
enhanced document storage options and mobile flexible working.

The board acknowledged the status of the current system but agreed that the City 
Mayor would, in the first instance, discuss the proposals for the new system and with 
the relevant Lead Members.

RESOLVED, THAT: the City Mayor discuss the proposals for the new system with 
relevant Lead Members.

Page 2



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

*Part 1 – Open to the public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director for Service Reform

TO  

Procurement Board

ON

28 August 2019

TITLE:  Approval for an Exception to Contractual Standing Orders to award a 
contract for ‘Vital and Viable Places’

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Procurement Board:
  
(1) Approve an exception to Contractual Standing Orders in accordance with 

Paragraph 3.1 as follows:

 Specialist services/supplies which are available only from one supplier. For 
example, specialist niche consultants or suppliers where there is a sole 
supplier of patented or proprietary articles, or materials or services 
exclusively provided by a statutory undertaker or other bodies.

(2) Approve the award of the Contract for (insert title of project/scheme/service or 
purchase of goods) as detailed in the table below:

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project Vital and Viable Places

Name of Successful Contractor Institute of Place Management (Manchester 
Metropolitan University)

Supplier Registration Number
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Other

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Non-SME

Page 3

Agenda Item 5a



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

Contract Value £50,000 Full Project
Contract Duration 24 months

Contract Start Date 02/09/2019
Contract End Date 02/09/2021

Optional Extension Period 1 N/A
Optional Extension Period 2 N/A

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Strategic Director (extension < £150k)

Contact Officer (Name & number) Jacquie Russell, x3557
Lead Service Group Service Reform & Development

The need for the goods, services or works is so urgent that 
the time needed to comply with the rules would be prejudicial 
to the Council’s interests
Specialist services/supplies which are available only from 
one supplier. For example, specialist niche consultants or 
suppliers where there is a sole supplier of patented or 
proprietary articles, materials or services exclusively 
provided by a statutory undertaker or other bodies

xx

For reasons of compatibility with existing services/products – 
for example, equipment that needs parts from its own 
manufacturer
Where any of the standing orders are inconsistent with any 
legislative requirements, in which instance the provisions of 
the appropriate legislation shall prevail
Where the Council can demonstrate that an integrated or 
strategic approach to procurement is being implemented and 
there is a requirement to align services or contracts to co-
terminus end dates
There are value for money reasons justifying a CSO 
Exception
School Governors: in relation to the Local Management of 
Schools (LMS), where schools have adopted their own 
standing orders
The shared legal service, in respect of the appointment of 
counsel

Reason for CSO Exception
(select all that apply)

Strategic Director of CHSC: contracts for the provision of 
personal care services or facilities pursuant to the National 
Health Service and Community Care Act 1990

Funding Source Choose an item.

(3) Note that prior to the end of the period of time covered by the exception as 
indicated in 2 above, the Strategic Director will determine whether the service is 
to be decommissioned or, in consultation with the Corporate  Procurement 
Team, will agree to undertake a compliant procurement process to re-let the 
contract by the end of the exception period.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of this report is to request an exception to Contractual Standing Orders 
to approve the award of a contract for the Vital and Viable Neighbourhoods project.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A

Page 4



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

KEY DECISION:  No 

DETAILS: 

1. The main issue for the Procurement Board is agreeing the exception to 
Contractual Standing Orders and giving approval to award the Contract. The 
purpose of this report is to establish the case for an exception.

2. This project seeks to establish a programme of work between Salford City 
Council and the Institute of Place Management (IPM) to develop a robust, 
evidence-based, and measurable approach to identifying potential place-
based interventions that can help to strengthen our district centres. The 
approach is built on the IPM’s prior experience in developing and applying the 
Vital and Viable Programme in a number of local districts nationally, and in 
Greater Manchester.  The approach includes a strong emphasis on local 
stakeholder engagement, importantly including local ward councillors.

3. This work is proposed to complement our existing work with partners to 
strengthen integrated neighbourhood working across the city.  This is most 
embedded in our 0-25 Transformation Programme, and particularly in the 
development of our Early Help Family Hubs.  Health and Social Care are also 
developing integrated teams to support coordinated delivery of services closer 
to communities.  The development of Primary Care Neighbourhoods will 
strengthen the approach to bring services together in our neighbourhoods, 
ensuring residents can receive the best possible support, from the right 
people, as close to home as possible.  

4. The work to develop strong services for people will have greatest positive 
impact if it is complemented by work to also ensure our district and town 
centres are ‘vital and viable’ – ie that we are creating and sustaining strong 
places, as well as strong people and strong services.  The work proposed will 
help us to develop ‘place shaping’ action plans that will sit alongside and 
complement our work to strengthen integrated neighbourhood working, and 
stronger outcomes for people in our communities. 

5. The proposed work will involve:

a. Installation of footfall counters in five centres: Eccles, Pendleton, 
Walkden, Swinton and Irlam & Cadishead.  This is supported by the 
nationally recognised Springboard Research. 

Irlam and Cadishead has been included following discussions at the 
recent Members Policy Forum. The first step will be a discussion with 
IPM and local members about how best to include the area.  If this 
work is successful, and provides useful learning and actions, it will be 
possible to explore with IPM extension to include other areas.  This 
would though be the subject of separate discussions about funding. 

Page 5



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

b. Primary research in each area, involving: a detailed ‘vitality and 
viability’ audit of each district centre, in terms of the existing offer and 
existing levels of community capacity to undertake place management 
practices;  Workshop(s) with local stakeholders; and an activity based 
classification of each centre based on the footfall analysis.

c. A detailed report for each centre setting out key findings, and offering a 
range of bespoke interventions based on the evidence collected.  
Recommendations will be based on achievable, realistic, low-cost 
activity with a people-focus.

6. This work is separate and distinct to the strategic master planning being 
considered in Swinton and in Eccles.  The work is focussed on identifying 
those very practical steps that can be taken to strengthen local centres now – 
and on those actions that are in the control of local stakeholders.  Findings 
might be helpful in shaping thinking and supporting engagement, but they do 
not in and of themselves tie SCC or others to specific longer term investment 
or planning decisions in the future. 

7. An exception to Contractual Standing Orders is sought to enable a direct 
contract with IPM without the need for a competitive process.  IPM have 
developed the Vital and Viable Programme.  They have also developed a 
track record in applying this model in places across the UK, including current 
work in a number of other GM Districts.   IPM also brings with them a strong 
partnership working with the national Springboard Research programme, long 
recognised as the national lead in retail footfall analysis.

8. The programme cost is a one-off and it is envisaged work across the five 
district centres will take approximately 24 months.  The cost per centre is 
£10,000, including the installation of footfall counters.  To support the work 
and a longer term partnership between SCC and the IPM, SCC has recently 
joined as a Partner of the IPM.  This ensure we can achieve maximum value 
from our Partnership with the IPM.

9. This work will support improvements in the management of our district 
centres.  Where this has been done elsewhere improvements have included: 
greater local spend; sustainability of local businesses; better use of public 
spaces in district centres; greater and more integrated use of public sector 
and community buildings in district centres; and in some cases the return of a 
sustainable district centre economy, including the growth or survival of local 
businesses.  All of these outcomes support the city’s social value ambitions, 
and would be expected as some of the outcomes of this work in Salford.

10. It is proposed work will be steered and overseen by a small project group 
between SCC and IPM.  This will include the Lead Member for Housing and 
Neighbourhoods as the lead portfolio holder. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Integrated Neighbourhoods; town and district centre planning

Page 6



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

Funding will be met from the earmarked reserve to support transformation.. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a 
contract may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider.

Whilst exceptions to CSO’s may be authorised by a decision notice from 
Procurement Board, as detailed in section 3 of Part 5 of the Constitution there is still 
a risk of challenge from aggrieved providers if the usual tender process has not been 
followed. The risk of challenge increases in tandem with the value and proposed 
length of the extension. In this instance, as noted in the report, the value of the 
proposed extension is low and for a short period. However the Council is not 
commissioning a service which may be readily provided by a number of suppliers in 
the marketplace and the provider appears to be in a unique position to provide the 
services to the Council to realise the benefits set out in the report.

Whilst the value of the proposed award is below threshold, for information, direct 
awards of contracts may be made in limited circumstances, set out at regulation 32 
of the PCR (“Negotiated procedure without prior publication”) such that reg 32 
(2)(b)(ii) confirms use of the procedure:

“…where the works, supplies or services can be supplied only by a particular economic 
operator for any of the following reasons:—
 (ii)  competition is absent for technical reasons,
 but only….where no reasonable alternative or substitute exists and the absence of 
competition is not the result of an artificial narrowing down of the parameters of the 
procurement;”

Accordingly the risk of any challenge being successful may be regarded as 
extremely low.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Chris Mee – Strategic Finance Manager 
Ext 0434

Page 7



Vital and Vibrant Aug 19

The cost of this contract (£50k) will be met in full from the transformation fund over 
the planned 2 year contract period.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Emma Heyes, Corporate 
Procurement Team 

There are always risks associated with applying an exception to the Council’s 
Contractual Standing Orders as this could potentially lead to a challenge from an 
aggrieved supplier if the contract opportunity was not sufficiently advertised in 
accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015. The risk increases in tandem 
with the value and length of the proposed contract, and would be on the principle 
that there are possibly other suppliers within the EU member states who could offer 
similar services. 

The Council’s Procurement Board has the authority to grant a waiver to Contractual
Standing Orders for any contract valued below the OJEU threshold.

After reviewing the content of the report, it would appear that there would be no other 
organisations able to deliver the Vital and Viable Programme, due to the IPM having 
already delivered this in a number of local districts nationally, and this would be an 
extension of that work within Greater Manchester through the partnership between 
Salford CC and IPM.

Therefore the risk of a procurement challenge can be deemed as low in this 
instance.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

Service Reform, Place 

CONTACT OFFICER:    Jacquie Russell                     TEL. NO.  0161 793 3577

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): 

All

Page 8



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S

Part 1 – Open to the public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director People 

TO  

Procurement Board

ON

28 August 2019

TITLE:  Approval for an Exception to Contractual Standing Orders to award a 
contract for Co Design and Refurbishment of The Grange Children’s Home.

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Procurement Board  

(1) Approve an exception to Contractual Standing Orders in accordance with 
Paragraph 3.1 as follows:

 The need for the goods, services or works is so urgent that the time 
needed to comply with the rules would be prejudicial to the council’s 
interests.

(2) Approve the award of the Contract for Co Design and Refurbishment of The 
Grange Children’s Home  as detailed in the table below:

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project
Co Design and Refurbishment of The Grange 

Children’s Home  
Name of Successful Contractor Quay Interiors Ltd
Supplier Registration Number

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)
Company – 10438822

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Private Limited Company

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Non-SME

Contract Value £141,404.55 Per Annum (estimated 
average)

Page 9

Agenda Item 5b



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S

Contract Duration 2 months refurb (6 months defects under JCT 
minor works Contract)

Contract Start Date 03/09/2020
Contract End Date 01/11/2019

Optional Extension Period 1 N/A
Optional Extension Period 2 N/A

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Choose an item.

Contact Officer (Name & number) Sayma Khan 01616034558

Lead Service Group People Services

Reason for CSO Exception
(select all that apply)

The need for the goods, services or works is so urgent that 
the time needed to comply with the rules would be 
prejudicial to the Council’s interests

x

Funding Source Capital Programme

(3) Note that prior to the end of the period of time covered by the exception as 
indicated in 2 above, the Strategic Director will determine whether the service is 
to be decommissioned or, in consultation with the Corporate  Procurement 
Team, will agree to undertake a compliant procurement process to re-let the 
contract by the end of the exception period.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of this report is to seek request an exception to Contractual Standing 
Orders to approve the award of a contract for the Co Design and Refurbishment of 
The Grange Children’s Home.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Report to Lead Member, 13th June 2019 – approval given that The Grange (previous 
children’s home for complex disabilities) be used as the NWD Hub see attached 
report.

Lead Member 
Report Grange as Hub v.2.doc

KEY DECISION: 

No 

DETAILS:

Page 10



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S

Initially developed and implemented by North Yorkshire County Council and evaluated by 
Loughborough University No Wrong Door (NWD) is an integrated service for adolescents 
with complex needs that brings together a team of specialists working together through a 
shared practice framework. The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, 
focused around a re-purposed children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-
disciplinary team: including a clinical psychologist, police, speech & language therapist and 
other specialist roles and key workers.
The model is aimed at young people aged 12 to 17 on the edge of care, edging to care and 
in care – though in some instances may stay in contact with young people up to the age of 
25. A NWD service may have a live caseload of around 40 at any one time, and work in 
some way with 200+ young people in a given year.

NWD objectives include:
 An overall reduction in spend on commissioned placements.  Work commenced 

January 2019 this has identified a cohort of young people who will following in depth 
work be returned to the City.  

 The hub will support young people with their emotional and mental health by having 
immediate access to clinical psychologist offering training and clinical supervision to 
staff, including a coaching role in case discussions (forensically reviewing cases if 
needed); developing formulations and clinically informed practice; and being part of 
high risk case decision-making process.

 Reducing risk, by addressing criminal behaviour and reducing arrests / involvement in 
the criminal justice system,

 Reducing risk, by working with young people who often go missing from home / care,
 Helping those who need support with their substance misuse issues,
 Working successfully with young people dis-engaged from schooling, or young adults 

who are NEET, 
 Reducing young people A&E attendances.

The Grange became vacant in December 2018, the building has been kept in good repair. 
During the vacancy we have continued to keep the Grange registered as a children’s home 
meaning that we would need to change the statement of purpose as opposed to register a 
new children’s home.
It is really important to highlight that the concept of the Hub is young person led and 
designed by them thought their lived experiences of being in exiting children’s homes. 
Young People are part of the design team and as such have fed into the overall design and 
approach to renovation. Young People clearly fed back that the Hub had to be different. The 
Hubs physical space needs to be mindful of the needs of those who've experienced trauma 
and adversity including how the space promotes psychological as well as physical safety is 
paramount to the difference in the models. 
Research evidences we must ‘create space which is trauma informed’ and clearly we need 
to recognise and accept the concept the young people have created is trauma informed and 
would have a positive impact on their emotional health and wellbeing.  

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Page 11



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S

No wrong door Strategy 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:-  

N/A

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

If the exception is not approved and we are unable to award the contract to Quay 
Interiors to undertake these works then this may have a detrimental impact on the 
Councils No Wrong Door strategy which also may result in financial consequences 
with regards to possible claw back of funding from the CCG.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

Approved Children’s Services 2019/20 Capital Programme.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or works the 
Council must comply with the requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
(PCR), which require that contracting authorities treat candidates equally and in a 
non-discriminatory way and act in a transparent manner, and its own Contractual 
Standing Orders (CSO’s) and Financial Regulations failing which a contract may be 
subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. 

The exception to CSO’s is being sought to directly award the contract to ensure the 
works can be commenced urgently to avoid the risk of clawback of funding for the 
service from the CCG.
 
Whilst exceptions to CSO’s may be authorised by a decision notice from 
Procurement Board, as detailed in section 3 of Part 5 of the Constitution there is still 
a risk of challenge from aggrieved providers if the usual tender process has not been 
followed. 

The risk of challenge increases with the value and duration of a proposed contract 
being awarded. Here the period proposed is a relatively short one and for a low 
value. Also the provider appears to be within a very limited market to provide the 
services, which will realise the benefits set out in the body of the report. Accordingly 
the risk of successful challenge to the award may be regarded as low.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Chris Mee, Strategic Finance Manager, 
Tel: 0161 778 0423 

The cost of these works will be met from within the existing approved Children’s 
Services 2019/20 capital programme.

Page 12



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Christopher Conway, Procurement 
Category Manager, tel. 0161 686 6248

Procurement are happy to approve the recommendation for an exception in order to 
formally award a 2 month contract to Quay Interiors for the design and refurbishment 
works at the Grange.

It has been agreed that Urban Vision will project manage these works moving 
forward for a reduced fee of 4.75% of final account. UV will jointly work with the 
design Consultant Sheila Bird, Quay Interiors and Young People moving forward.

The costs for these works have been verified by urban vision as being comparable to 
industry rates and the additional benefit of working with Urban Vision will ensure that 
full contract compliance and risks are mitigated during the design and refurbishment 
process.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

People’s Directorate and Place Directorate (Urban Vision).

CONTACT OFFICER: Sayma Khan                          TEL. NO. 01616034558

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): 

Proposed No Wrong Door Hub is located in one ward. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

Part 1
ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director for Place

TO

Procurement Board

ON

28th August, 2019

 
TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract for the provision of six sheet digital 
advertising units within the City of Salford, FSU units to be located on Council owned 
land.

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Procurement Board approves the award of the Contract for the 
development of digital six sheet advertising units (FSU’s) within the City of Salford, 
FSU’s to be located on Council owned land, as detailed in the table below:
 

Detail required

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project

The development of digital six sheet advertising 
units (FSU) within the City of Salford, to be 
located on Council owned land.

Name of Successful Contractor Clear Channel UK Limited
Supplier Registration Number

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)
00950526

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Private Limited Company

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Non-SME

Contract Value £ Full Project
Contract Duration 7 years

Contract Start Date 01/09/2019
Contract End Date 01/09/2029

Page 15

Agenda Item 5c



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

Optional Extension Period 1 1 Year
Optional Extension Period 2 1 Year
Optional Extension Period 3 1 Year

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Procurement Board (extension > £150k)

Contact Officer (Name & number) Jonathan Till x 6133

Lead Service Group Place

How the contract was procured?
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Framework Call-off (Mini Competition)

Framework Details (where applicable)
(Procurement Body, Framework Reference & 

Title, Start/End Dates, Hyperlink, etc.)

Flexible Procurement Solution for advertising 
development (1st August  2018 to 31st July 2023)

On the CHEST-Renewal of the expired 
advertising DPS-ref DN350512

Funding Source Income generation-Revenue Budget

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of this report is to seek the approval to the award the six sheet 
advertising contract to Clear Channel UK Limited.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
A procurement exercise took place to replace the former Dynamic Concession 
register, (Advert framework), with a new Flexible Procurement Solution (FPS). This 
was approved by Lead Member on 13th March, 2018 and by the Procurement Board 
on the 4th April, 2018. The opportunity was then published on the Chest. 
The FPS framework is divided into two Lots, LOT 1, large format advertising 
including digital displays and LOT 2, Small format advertising (Roundabouts etc) 
All of the advert developers approved within LOT 1 were offered the opportunity to 
apply for the new 6 sheet contract managed through a mini-competition process.

KEY DECISION:  

Yes.

DETAILS: 

1. Background,

Page 16



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

Salford City Council, in partnership with Clear Channel UK Ltd, has developed a 
network of 119 FSU’s across the City which has delivered significant levels of 
income for the Council over the last eighteen years. The change in the contract will 
provide the opportunity for all of the existing FSU’s to be removed or refreshed with 
the latest digital technology.

As part of the new contract the existing FSU’s will be removed and will be replaced 
with a minimum of 30 double sided digital FSU units, the Council will be provided 
with some air time on each FSU unit to display Council messages.

Due to the cost of the digital units the number of units installed within the City will be 
reduced however the rental value received per unit will increase, this will also have 
the added benefit of de-cluttering the City. 

All of the new digital advertising units will be subject to advertising planning consent 
and the necessary highways licenses before they are installed. 

These FSU’s will ensure that the overall budgeted income for advertising of 
£775,000 will be achieved and provides an opportunity for an additional profit share, 
of up to £50,000 to be realised from the 20/21 Financial year.

2. The Procurement Process

Page 17



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

A mini-completion was undertaken using the principals outlined within the FPS. All of 
the advert developers that had been appointed to LOT 1 (Development of digital 
advert screens) were invited to apply for the new six sheet concession.

The six sheet advertising concession was published on the chest and fourteen 
advertising developers expressed an interest in the six sheet advertising opportunity.

Four of these advert developers were eligible to supply the requirements, however 
only one company submitted a tender for the six sheet advertising opportunity in 
Salford.

This bid was evaluated following the criteria set out in the mini competition 
documentation. 

It is recommended that the Clear Channel UK Limited bid be accepted. A price 
quality ratio was used as an evaluation tool which was based on a 60/40 split with 
price being 60%. A benchmark exercise has been undertaken to provide the Council 
with the confidence that the offer put forward by Clear Channel UK represents best 
value for the Council and reflects the market rate.

The acceptance of the Clear Channel UK Ltd bid will also deliver an additional 
benefit in that the continuation of the partnership with Clear Channel UK Ltd will also 
protect the Councils existing revenue stream during the transition to the new digital 
units.

The contract will be for a seven year term with the option to extend for a further three 
one year periods. A market consultation activity was undertaken prior to the mini 
competition to determine the contract period and this was in line with the life span of 
a digital FSU. 

A revenue monitoring meeting takes place on a monthly basis to review the 
performance of the various outdoor advertising initiatives, the performance of the 
new FSU contract will be monitored through this existing budgetary process. 

A benchmarking exercise has taken place to provide the re-assurance that accepting 
the one submission from Clear Channel UK would not place the Council at a 
disadvantage.

Name of Bidder
% Price 
score

Max 60%

% Quality 
score

Max 40%

%Overall 
Score
100%

Price

Clear Channel UK 
Ltd 60.00 37.60 97.60 £

+ % profit 
share

Page 18



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

3. Social Value 

The tender evaluation was based on a 60 / 40 split with Social Value been scored 
out of a maximum of 40%. 

The Contractor’s ability to deliver Social Value outcomes was assessed as part of 
the development of the (FPS) Framework process. All potential bidders had 
demonstrated a satisfactory capacity to deliver Social Value outcomes in Salford.

In their FPS submission Clear Chancel referenced their accreditation to ISO14001, 
Environmental accreditation and their use of local apprenticeship schemes and a 
positive relationship with local suppliers and schools.

The mini-competition added to this process by setting out a number of additional 
questions that covered the following areas which will support the delivery of a 
number of social value outcomes during the period of the 6 sheet advertising 
contract.

 Please describe what social value your company will deliver during the course 
of this project. Please demonstrate in your response how you will develop, 
monitor and report upon the social value you deliver within Salford.

 The Council would like the benefit of some air time on the digital advertising 
units to promote Council services and campaigns.

The successful tenderer has pledged to provide a Salford Social & Environmental 
fund, to the value of £60,000 for the Council to re-invest into green projects.

The £60,000 Innovation Fund is designed to be used for local initiatives for social 
benefit.  Clear Channel has pledged to work with a number of partner organisations 
which deliver such projects, including the following examples: 

 Edible Playgrounds, a primary schools project to deliver healthy eating by 
encouraging the planting, care and harvesting of fruit and vegetables to 
promote healthy eating, as well as supporting curriculum objectives.

 Urban tree planting with our charity partner Trees for Cities, planting trees or 
urban orchards to enhance the local environment, create clean air zones and 
enhance the aesthetic of an area.

 Other options include the potential to invest in clean transport initiatives such 
as funding for electric vehicle charging points.

In practical terms, this would work be delivered by agreeing the projects, the 
partners, the price and the signing off funds against the Innovation fund to support 
these projects in collaboration with Clear Channels delivery partners. 

Page 19



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

Clear Channels only stipulation would be that the projects must have a direct benefit 
for Salford residents with Clear Channel been provided with the opportunity to 
publicise their involvement with the Authority in the project. 
The successful tenderer has pledged to provide the Council with significant air time 
to display Council messages.  The tenderer would commit to 10 seconds displays 
per minute, per unit installed, which would then be displayed 20 hours per day 
(operating hours).  

The successful tenderer has also developed their, “Vision for Salford”, which has 
been attached as a separate document.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

This is an income generating initiative. The establishment of the Flexible 
Procurement Solution (FPS) was approved by the procurement Board on 4th April, 
2018. The new FPS will be used as the single point of procurement for the 
development of all new advertising initiatives over the next five years.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

This FPS has created greater competition for the development of advertising sites 
within Salford. Each of the successful companies has been provided with the 
opportunity to submit a proposal for the new six sheet advertising concession 
through a mini competition. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

There is a low level of risk for the Council; this is an income generating initiative.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

This is an income generating initiative; there are no cost implications for the Council. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 0161 219 6323 

For contracts of this nature, the Council must comply with the terms of the 
Concessions Contracts Regulations 2016 as well as its own contractual standing 
orders. In simple terms, a concession contract is one where a Contracting Authority 
grants a contract for works or services to a third party and the consideration 
involved, rather than being a direct payment from the Contracting Authority, consists 
solely of the right to exploit the work or service (or sometimes these rights in addition 
to receiving a payment).

To qualify as a concession contract, it must also involve the transfer to the third party 
(or “concessionaire”) of an operating risk in exploiting the service which, at least in 

Page 20



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

part, “involves real exposure to the vagaries of the market”, such that any potential 
estimated loss is not merely nominal or negligible.

In practice, this requirement is met where the concessionaire is not guaranteed to 
recoup its investment in supplying the works or services which form the subject 
matter of the contract.

The Concession Contracts Regulations apply threshold of circa £4.5 million pounds 
for the Council to fully comply, and in this instance, even though the value is below 
threshold, the principles of transparency and equal treatment remain, resulting in a 
mini-competition exercise being undertaken. Clear Channel were the (only) preferred 
bidder for the opportunity advertised, and any challenge to the appointment is 
therefore highly unlikely.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by:  Martin Anglesey 0161 793 3248
This is an income generating initiative. Whilst advertising has consistently performed 
well against budget in recent years, this budget must be closely monitored as a 
reduction in income will have a detrimental impact upon the bottom line position for 
the Place service group.  Finance are working with the service area to ensure that a 
realistic and fair yet challenging income target is built into budgets going forward. 

Cost Centre D5024 7528

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: The Corporate Procurement Team  

The Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) for the provision of advertising billboards 
across the City expired in July 2018; accordingly a new flexible procurement solution 
(FPS) has been developed by the procurement team to replace this commissioning 
model.

A mini-completion was developed through the FPS for the re-procurement of the free 
standing six sheet advertising contract that expired in February, 2019.

All of the advert developers appointed to LOT 1, large format and digital 
development were invited to tender. 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

None. 

CONTACT OFFICER:                Jonathan Till                                         X6133.

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): 

Specify the ward(s) affected, if all wards, state this fact.

Page 21



FSU Tender – award of contract – PB 28th August, 2019

All Wards

Page 22



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: The award of the Six 
sheet digital advertising contract (FSU’s)

Committee Procurement Board
Date 28th August, 2019

Category of exemption applied: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the Authority holding that information)

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION

Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

NO

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken certain 
decisions? 

NO

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal probity 
(or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

NO

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money for 
council taxpayers? 

NO

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

NO

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public safety? (NB 
you should be careful if considering the release of information which might 
adversely affect public health and safety)  

NO

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

NO

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact occurred? NO

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION

Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

YES

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, without 
giving the public any useful information? 

YES

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

NO

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the public 
useful information? 

YES

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals at 
risk? 

NO

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

YES

Page 23

Agenda Item 8a



Justification of decision

The existing six sheet advertising contract, an eighteen year contract with Clear Channel UK, 
expired in February, 2019; therefore a mini-completion was undertaken using the principals 
outlined within the Flexible Procurement Solution (advert framework). All of the advert 
developers that had been appointed to LOT 1 (Development of digital advert screens) were 
invited to apply for the new six sheet concession.

The six sheet advertising concession was published on the chest and fourteen advertising 
developers expressed an interest in the six sheet advertising opportunity. 

Only four of these advert developers were eligible to apply, however only Clear Channel UK 
Ltd, the existing provider, submitted a tender for the six sheet advertising opportunity in 
Salford.

If the Procurement Board report was made available it would clearly identify Clear Channel 
UK Ltd as the preferred operator for the FSU contract in Salford but would also publish the 
amount of rent that Clear Channel was prepared to offer the Council for the FSU concession.  

This offer of rent has been made in confidence through the tender submission and if 
published would provide Clear Channels competitors with an insight into the level of rent that 
Clear Channel was willing to offer to Salford. 

The publication of this information may have a negative impact on Clear Channels future 
bidding strategy but more importantly would provide neighbouring Councils, who have an 
existing relationship with Clear Channel, knowledge of the rental values provided to Salford.  
In some cases neighbouring Local Authorities are not receiving the equivalent levels of rent 
which could cause Clear Channel some contractual or relationship issues.

Name and Title:  Jonathan Till, Business Support, Urban Vision Partnership Limited

Date: 13 August 2019

Page 24



Document is Restricted

Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of last meeting held on 7 August 2019
	5a Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - Contract Award - ‘Vital and Viable Places’
	5b Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - Contract Award - Co Design and Refurbishment of The Grange Children's Home
	5c Request for Approval - Contract Award - Provision of Six Sheet Digital Advertising Units within the City of Salford
	8a Request for Approval - Contract Award - Provision of Six Sheet Digital Advertising Units within the City of Salford
	08(a) - Advertising Concession


